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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

During the years of its service as a defensive fortification, from 1898 to the First
World War, Fort Hunt incorporated four concrete Endicott system batteries and some
30 support structures, including officer and enlisted housing, a small hospital,

a post exchange and gymnasium, s mess hall, and various shops and sheds. Located
on the 90-acre Pelton tract at Sheridan Point, the batteries occupied high ground
with an unobstructed field of fire across open land toward the river. The other
structures were clustered on the same tract inland from the batteries. A long
wharf extended into the river approximately 1000 feet upstream from the point.

The only military structures remaining at Fort Hunt today are the four batteries,

ﬁ‘%&%ﬁbﬁ?‘@ﬁﬁmander“s statidn, d résidencea dand a,gtéble.,:;hd;v}dgal descriptions
follows ' -~ o

Batter& Moudt Verdon. ' Thls, the Iar esﬁ'and'ﬁéﬁférﬁﬁbﬁf'bf .the %atteries, is 1ocated
near the western edge ‘of ‘the Peltol tract. It was constructed at a cost of $103, 804
between January 1897 and August 1898. The massive concrete structure, approximately
420 feet long by 90 feet wide (front to rear), is banked with earth on the front and
sides, Stairways lead to rooms and passages below the gun deck. The battery mounted
three eight~inch rifled guns spaced 135 feet apart; this armament was removed during
the First World War. The structure todsy is essentially intact but stripped of its
fittings, deteriorated, and overgrown.

Battery Sater. The second largest battery, it is situated some 900 feet east or
upriver from Battery Mount Vernon. It was built at a cost of $16,978 between August
1900 and' June 1904. OF similar construction to the foregoing, the concrete work
measures approximately 110 feet long by 60 feet wide. Sater was armed with three
three-inch 15-pounder rapid-fire guns, remoyed guring the First World, War. Its
condition today is gimilar to that of Mount Vernon. .

Batteries Porter and Robinson. These batteries, mirror images of each other, were
built for a total of $17,200 between November 1898 and July 1901. Porter is located
directly east of Mount Vernon; Robinson bears the same relationship to Sater. The
concrete work of each, banked with earth on the front and sides, measures approxi-
mately 60 by 60 feet. A five~inch rapid-fire gun was mounted in each battery in
June 1902. The batteries were disarmed with the others and are in similar condition
today. ' e -

Battery Commander's Station. This concrete tower of the "high site type” was built
between October 1899 and July 1901 at a cost of $4,259. It was sited 263 feet north-
west of the westermmost gun of Battery Mount Vernon on the western edge of the Pelton
tract. The tower mounted a Type A range finder and was used for observation and di-~
rection of the fire from the guns; Army maps, also referred to_its use as, a meteoro-
logical station. It measures approximately 15 feet squarée and 30 feet high, with a
deck extending out on all sides about 20 feet from the ground. The roof is steel.
The original iron railings, stairs, and other fittings are gone, and the structure

is today in deteriorated condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Fort -‘Hunt ‘is historically significant for its remnants of the last defansimuhcamplex
constructed oh the Potomac River to gudrd the Nation's Capital from' hd¥#l  attack.' *

Between 1889 and 1910 the United States spent more than $52.million to build the - -
cQuprehensive Endicott system of seaccast defemses to .guard 26 of the Nation's
major ports. (The system was nwmed for William C. Endicott, Grover Cleveland's
Secretary of War, who headed the board recommending its development.) As the Na-
tion's Capital, Washington was among the five places given priority in the con~
struction of this modern system of concrete and earthen gun and mortar emplacemen&s,
designed to replace the obsolete brick and masonry "Third System" forts erected be—
tween 1816 and 1860. The Army Corps of Engineers built eight Endicott batteries at
Fort Washington, a defense post on the left bank of the Potomac River &imlier i
the 19th century, and four batteries across the river at Sheridan Point. The latter
position, operationally a subpost of Fort Washington, was designated Fort Hunt in
1899 in honor of Ma4. Gen. Henry Hunt, chief of Union artillery in the Ciwil War.

The Army 'acquiréd ‘90 acres of farmland (thé Pelton tract) at Sheridan Point in 1893.
Construction of the batteties began in"1897 and-was completed in 1904. The first,
Battery Mount Vermon, was named for Washington's nearby estate; Batteries Porter,
Robinson, and Sater memorialized Army lieutenants killed in Indian combat and the
Spanish-American War. With the addition of the various housing and‘bther §ﬁpport
facilities common to such posts and the acquisition of another 107.4 acres, Fort
Hunt was essentially complete as a defense complex by 1906.

During its service as a coastal defense cg)mplementing the Fort Washington batteries,
Fort Hunt was never garrisoned’ by more than one company of 109 men. Although Bat-
tery Mount Vernon was completed just before the Spanish-American War, the fort saw
no action then or afterward, and garrison life was uneventful. During the First

World War the post was declared superfluous for protection of the Capital, and the
guns were removed and transferred elsewhere.

R v .-

With its defensive role at an end, Fort Hunt briefly hosted an Army Finance School
in 1921-23 and housed a Signal Corps company in the late 1920s. Surplus to War
Department needs, the property was transferred in 1932 to the Office of Public
Buildings and Public Parks of the National Capital, whose functions were assumed in
1933 by the National Park Service. In the following years the Civilian Conservation
Corps developed the site as a recreational area and landscaped the Mount Vernon
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Noncomg&ssioned‘ngicer's'Quarters. This single—family residence was built sometime
between 1901 and 1906 approximately 400 feet north~northwest of Battery Sater. It
was constructed from standard plan 87-E of the Office of the Quartermaster General,
dated March 1901. The two-story frame structure with basement measures 20 by 28

feet in plan with the shorter gabled ends facing front and rear. A door on the left
of the facade opens on a side stairway rising to two bedrooms and a bath. The first
floor has a front parlor with a kitchen and pantry tothe rear. Covered porches ran
nearly the width of the house front and rear; the rear porch was enclosed c. 1950.
The house overall is plain, with the stamped metal ceilings and woodwork characteris-
tic of itas period., Originally it was the eastermmost in a row of three NCO quarters,
the others being duplexes built from standard OQMG plan 82~C; today it stands alone.
It is occupied and in good condition.

Quartermaster Stable. This structure, on the northern edge of the Pelton tract some
350 feet northwest of the surviving residence, was built in 1900 from standard plan
37-B of the Office of the Quartermaster General. The timber-framed, clapboarded

barn sits atop brick piers and measures 33 by 60 feet. The original slate roof remains.
The first floor, originally divided into four rooms, has undergone modificstion; the
open loft is essentially as built, A second double door has been cut in the south

side of the building since the time of comstruction, while a similar sccess on the

north side has been closed. Doors at either end of the loft with protruding beams
overhead enable the hoisting and admission of material from outside. Scrolled

rafter ends at the eaves are a decorative element. The stable is presently in
deteriorated condition.,

The quarters and the stable, as the only support structures remaining in what was
historically a built-up military post complex, have lost most of their integrity of
setting. The land between them and the batteries and tower has been altered in
character by the development of access roads, a parking area, and a picnic pavilion
and grounds, all provided to serve Fort Hunt's current primary function as a public
recreational park. The batteries are so overgrown as to obscure their relationship
to each other and to the river. Although the National Register boundary has been
drawn as a single figure enclosing the seven structures named, the altered character
of the site precludes a sense of unity or coherence among its historic elements,
which appear and have significance today primarily as individual remmants rather
than components of a "historic scene.”

icontinue )
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7. DESCRIFTION

Outside the National Register boundary, although virtually all the land now included
in Fort Hunt Park and the adjoining George Washington Memorial Pakkway was included
in the Fort Hunt military reservation at its greatest extent (after 1906), nothing
exists today illustrative of the military presence here. The land between the
batteries and the river, historically important to the guns' field of fire, is now
occupied by the George Washington Memorial Parkway, an internal visitor circula-
tion road, a modern maintenance facility, and dense vegetation. The western portion
of the park (the former Grau tract) was used by military intelligence during World
War II but retains no visible evidence of that use. Nona of the other structures
in the park, including the maintenance area, pavilion building, park police sub~-
8tation, oil storage building (1937), rest rooms, roads, and parking areas, meet
National Register criteria. The Register boundary thus encompasses all qualifying
features.
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8. SIGNIFICANCE

Memorial Highway (George Washington Memorial Parkway) that was constructed along the
riverfront of the property in the early 1930s.

Fort Hunt was reoccupied by the military during World War II, when its western
portion (the Grau tract) served as a prison camp and interrogation area for captured
German and Japanese officers. During this period the concrete batteries were used
by the National Archives for storing flammable nitrate film. The area was returned
to " the National Park Service in 1948, after which the majority of the military
structures were removed and the site acquired its present character. The structures
described in the preceding section, all dating from Fort Hunt's early years as a
coastal (or river) defense fortification, are all that remain to illustrate its
military role and significance.

6. REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS

(2) County of Fairfax Historic Landmarks Survey
1969 County
County of Fairfax Division of Planning
4100 Chain Bridge Road
Fairfax, Virginia 22030




